CONFIGURATION GUIDE



Cloudpath Enrollment System Sponsored Guest Access Configuration Guide, 6.0

Supporting Cloudpath Software Release 6.0

© 2024 CommScope, Inc. All rights reserved.

No part of this content may be reproduced in any form or by any means or used to make any derivative work (such as translation, transformation, or adaptation) without written permission from CommScope, Inc. and/or its affiliates ("CommScope"). CommScope reserves the right to revise or change this content from time to time without obligation on the part of CommScope to provide notification of such revision or change.

Export Restrictions

These products and associated technical data (in print or electronic form) may be subject to export control laws of the United States of America. It is your responsibility to determine the applicable regulations and to comply with them. The following notice is applicable for all products or technology subject to export control:

These items are controlled by the U.S. Government and authorized for export only to the country of ultimate destination for use by the ultimate consignee or end-user(s) herein identified. They may not be resold, transferred, or otherwise disposed of, to any other country or to any person other than the authorized ultimate consignee or end-user(s), either in their original form or after being incorporated into other items, without first obtaining approval from the U.S. government or as otherwise authorized by U.S. law and regulations.

Disclaimer

THIS CONTENT AND ASSOCIATED PRODUCTS OR SERVICES ("MATERIALS"), ARE PROVIDED "AS IS" AND WITHOUT WARRANTIES OF ANY KIND, WHETHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED. TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMISSIBLE PURSUANT TO APPLICABLE LAW, COMMSCOPE DISCLAIMS ALL WARRANTIES, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, TITLE, NON-INFRINGEMENT, FREEDOM FROM COMPUTER VIRUS, AND WARRANTIES ARISING FROM COURSE OF DEALING OR COURSE OF PERFORMANCE. CommScope does not represent or warrant that the functions described or contained in the Materials will be uninterrupted or error-free, that defects will be corrected, or are free of viruses or other harmful components. CommScope does not make any warranties or representations regarding the use of the Materials in terms of their completeness, correctness, accuracy, adequacy, usefulness, timeliness, reliability or otherwise. As a condition of your use of the Materials, you warrant to CommScope that you will not make use thereof for any purpose that is unlawful or prohibited by their associated terms of use.

Limitation of Liability

IN NO EVENT SHALL COMMSCOPE, COMMSCOPE AFFILIATES, OR THEIR OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, EMPLOYEES, AGENTS, SUPPLIERS, LICENSORS AND THIRD PARTY PARTNERS, BE LIABLE FOR ANY DIRECT, INDIRECT, SPECIAL, PUNITIVE, INCIDENTAL, EXEMPLARY OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES, OR ANY DAMAGES WHATSOEVER, EVEN IF COMMSCOPE HAS BEEN PREVIOUSLY ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES, WHETHER IN AN ACTION UNDER CONTRACT, TORT, OR ANY OTHER THEORY ARISING FROM YOUR ACCESS TO, OR USE OF, THE MATERIALS. Because some jurisdictions do not allow limitations on how long an implied warranty lasts, or the exclusion or limitation of liability for consequential or incidental damages, some of the above limitations may not apply to you.

Trademarks

CommScope and the CommScope logo are registered trademarks of CommScope and/or its affiliates in the U.S. and other countries. For additional trademark information see https://www.commscope.com/trademarks. All product names, trademarks, and registered trademarks are the property of their respective owners.

Patent Marking Notice

For applicable patents, see www.cs-pat.com.

Contents

Overview	5
Authentication Server Configuration for Sponsorship	7
Creating a Workflow to Prompt User for Voucher	9
Adding Sponsors to a Voucher List	13
How to Add Onboard Sponsors	
External Sponsors	16
Enrollment Experience for Sponsor and Guest User	17
Using the Sponsorship Portal	21
How to Customize the Sponsorship Portal	
Tasks That Sponsors Can Perform On Sponsorship Portal	
Managing Vouchers from the Sponsorship Portal	23
How to Create a Single Voucher	24
How to Generate Multiple Vouchers	
How to Upload a List of Vouchers from a CSV file	
Managing Guest User Devices	27
Managing Sponsors	28
Creating Voucher Lists and Vouchers in the Cloudpath UI	29
Creating Voucher Lists	
Adding Vouchers to a Voucher List	
Adding a Single Voucher to a Voucher List	32
Adding Multiple Vouchers to a Voucher List	33

Overview

Audience: This manual is intended for both the Cloudpath administrator and Cloudpath users who have been designated as sponsors by the Cloudpath administrator.

NOTE

This manual pertains only to the use of vouchers provided by sponsors to guest users. For information about using sponsors to provide online or offline network access with the use of *verification codes* (which is a different process from using vouchers), refer to the *Cloudpath Enrollment System Deployment Administration Guide*.

NOTE

This manual also pertains specifically to the workflow plugin called "Authenticate using a voucher from a sponsor." There is, however, one other type of enrollment process that uses voucher lists. That plugin is called "Perform out-of-band verification."

Sponsored guest access allows authorized employees to grant network access to third-parties. This is most commonly used to provide secure wireless network access to corporate visitors and partners, and is typically time-restricted. By distributing authorization to employees, third-parties are able to quickly gain access without IT involvement and with appropriate traceability.

The method for providing access is through the use of vouchers that sponsors provide to their guest users.

The following steps show the process to set up sponsored-guest access:

- During the setup of the Cloudpath Enrollment System, the Cloudpath administrator specifies that visitors may gain network access if they are sponsored. The network administrator can specify that anyone belonging to the Wireless Sponsors group (an example name of a group you can create within Active Directory) is allowed to sponsor a guest. This type of sponsor is called an "external sponsor." For instructions, refer to Authentication Server Configuration for Sponsorship on page 7. ("Onboard sponsors" can also be added, as described below.)
- 2. The Cloudpath administrator should configure a workflow that uses the plugin called "Authenticate using a voucher from a sponsor." For instructions, refer to Creating a Workflow to Prompt User for Voucher on page 9.
- The Cloudpath administrator can use the Managed Access > Sponsored Access portion of the Cloudpath UI to add "onboard sponsors" to a voucher list that was created when the workflow was created. For information on adding sponsors, refer to Adding Sponsors to a Voucher List on page 13.
- 4. Sponsors can prepare ahead of time for their guests by creating vouchers via the sponsorship portal. This is decribed in Enrollment Experience for Sponsor and Guest User on page 17.

Additional Information:

- For complete information about how sponsors can use the sponsorship portal, refer to Using the Sponsorship Portal on page 21.
- For complete information about using the Cloudpath UI to create voucher lists and vouchers, refer to Creating Voucher Lists and Vouchers in the Cloudpath UI on page 29.

NOTE

Voucher lists can be created only in the Cloudpath UI, not in the sponsorship portal. However, vouchers can be added to voucher lists either from the Cloudpath UI or the sponsorship portal.

Authentication Server Configuration for Sponsorship

This task is needed if you want to allow "external sponsors" (which are sponsors that you do not need to add via the **Managed Access > Sponsored Access** portion of the Cloudpath UI) to be able to generate vouchers. To configure the sponsored access feature for external sponsors, the Cloudpath administrator must set up a sponsor group in the Corporate AD or LDAP server for employees that can be authorized as sponsors. For example, create a group named **Manager** or **Wireless Sponsors**.

NOTE

For information about adding sponsors via the Managed Access > Sponsored Access portion of the Cloudpath UI, refer to How to Add Onboard Sponsors on page 13.

This group name is used in Cloudpath when configuring which users are able to log into the sponsorship portal and sponsor guest users. To set up your Active Directory or LDAP server to support sponsorship, follow these steps:

1. From the ES Admin UI, go to Configuration > Authentication Servers.

2. On the Authentication Servers page, edit the AD or LDAP server you will be using to authenticate sponsors and guest users.

FIGURE 1 Configure AD Server for Sponsorship Logins

IAL	uthentication Server	<	Back Next		
0	Connect to Active Directory				
	Select this option to enable end-u	sers to authenticate via Active Directory.			
	Default AD Domain:	test.sample.local			
	+ AD Host:	ldaps://192.168.4.2	*		
	AD DN:	dc=test,dc=sample,dc=local	*		
	• AD Username Attribute:	SAM Account Name			
	Verify Account Status On Each Authentication				
	• Perform Status Check:				
	Additional Logins				
	• Use For Admin Logins:				
	🗄 Use For Sponsor Logins:				
	Test Authentication				
	Run Authentication Test?				
D	Connect to LDAP				
	Select this option to enable end-us	sers to authenticate via LDAP (or LDAPs).			
0	Connect to RADIUS				
	Select this option to enable end-u	sers to authenticate via RADIUS using PAP.			

3. Select the **User For Sponsor Logins** box to allow sponsors to log into the sponsorship portal using credentials from this authentication server.

Creating a Workflow to Prompt User for Voucher

This section describes how to add a step in the enrollment workflow to prompt a guest user for a voucher or one-time password. Use this configuration if you plan to use generated voucher lists.

- 1. From the ES Admin UI, go to Configuration > Workflows and create an enrollment workflow for guest users.
- 2. Add an enrollment step that prompts guest users to Authenticate using a voucher from a sponsor by clicking on the button of that name:

FIGURE 2 List of Plugin Buttons

Which Type Of Step Should Be Added?

Display an Acceptable Use Policy (AUP) Displays a message to the user and requires that they signal their acceptance. This is normally used for an acceptable use policy (AUP) or end-user license agreement (EULA).

Authenticate to a traditional authentication server

Prompts the user to authenticate to an Active Directory server, and LDAP server, RADIUS or a SAML server.

Ask the user to name their device

Prompts the user to provide a name for the device, with the option to reuse or delete previously enrolled devices. This may suggest that old devices be removed or may limit the maximum number of concurrent

Ask the user about concurrent certificates

Prompts the user with information about previously issued certificates that are still valid. This may suggest that old certificates be removed or may limit the maximum number of concurrent certificates.

Split users into different branches

Creates a branch or fork in the enrollment process. This can occur (1) visually by having the user make a selection or (2) it can occur automatically based on criteria associated with each option. For example, a user that selects "Guest" may be sent through a different process than a user that selects to enroll as an "Employee". Likewise, an Android device may be presented a different enrollment sequence than a Windows device.

Authenticate to a third-party

Prompts the user to authenticate via a variety of third-party sources. This includes internal OAuth servers as well as public OAuth servers, such as Facebook, LinkedIn, and Google.

Authenticate using a voucher from a sponsor

Prompts the user to enter a voucher previously received from a sponsor. The sponsor generates the voucher via the Sponsor Portal, typically before the user arrives onsite.

3. Create a new voucher list for guest users.

FIGURE 3 Create Voucher List

	Carcel < dack field >
Reference Information	
	Yest Voucher List
+ Description:	
to the second	Contract Con
API ID:	OTDUS-SHORENCI-CANA-RECO-BONT-REFOREMEDIA
Format	
F Length:	4
	aigh-abatic (Lowercana)
· Default Validity Length:	
Default Days of Access:	
Maximum Days of Access:	
E Require Username Match:	
Notification	
· Email Subject:	Network Access
- Email Body:	The following volumer and to required to access the network,
	 der(+Vitazher Code: \$(VOLO+D1)
F SH5 Subject:	Network Access
SMS Body:	The following voucher code is required to access the network.
and a second	The Roowing Voucher 2004 is required to access the network, Voucher Code: #(VOCHER)
Research in	
Sponsor ship	25
Sponsorship	0
E Allow by LDAP Group:	8
Allow by LDAP Group: Allow by LDAP Username:	0
Allow by LDAP Group: Allow by LDAP Group: Allow by LDAP Username: Allow by LDAP Username DN: Naximum Certificates:	0
Allow by LDAP Group: Allow by LDAP Group: Allow by LDAP Username: Allow by LDAP Username DN: Naximum Certificates:	
Allow by LDAP Group: Allow by LDAP Group: Allow by LDAP Username: Allow by LDAP Username DN: Naximum Certificates:	
Allow by LDAP Group: Allow by LDAP Username: Allow by LDAP Username DN: Allow by LDAP Username DN: Allow by LDAP Username DN: Dotault Permissione:	
Allow by LDAP Group: Allow by LDAP Group: Allow by LDAP Username: Allow by LDAP Username DN: Naximum Certificates:	
Allow by LDAP Group: Allow by LDAP Username: Allow by LDAP Username DN: Allow by LDAP Username DN: Allow by LDAP Username DN: Dotault Permissione:	
Allow by LDAP Group: Allow by LDAP Username: Allow by LDAP Username DN: Maximum Certificates: Default Permissione: New Sponsor Email Subject:	
Allow by LDAP Group: Allow by LDAP Username: Allow by LDAP Username DN: Maximum Certificates: Default Permissione: New Sponsor Email Subject:	
Allow by LDAP Group: Allow by LDAP Username: Allow by LDAP Username DN: Maximum Certificates: Default Permissione: New Sponsor Email Subject:	
Allow by LDAP Group: Allow by LDAP Username: Allow by LDAP Username DN: Maximum Certificates: Default Permissione: New Sponsor Email Subject: New Sponsor Email Template:	
Allow by LDAP Group: Allow by LDAP Username: Allow by LDAP Username: Allow by LDAP Username: Default Permissione: New Sponsor Email Subject: New Sponsor Email Subject: New Sponsor Email Subject: Eldda Displayed To Sponsor Xame Field.	Adul ExterNation Sponsors In Group Adul ExterNation Sponsors In Group Manage Devices Ennation ExterNation Manage Devices Ennation ExterNation Adul ExterNation Adul ExterNation Sponsorship Access Trus feedboord Sponsors This logar as A sponsors, so the information adul ExterNation Sponsorship Access Show and require entry. Show and require entry.
Allow by LDAP Group: Allow by LDAP Username: Allow by LDAP Username DN: Allow by LDAP Username DN: Dataut Permissione: New Sponsor Email Subject: New Sponsor Email Subject: New Sponsor Email Subject: Company Field: Company Field:	
Allow by LDAP Group: Allow by LDAP Username: Allow by LDAP Username DN: Maximum Cartificates: Default Permissions: New Sponsor Email Subject: New Sponsor Email Subject New Sponsor Email Template:	
Allow by LDAP Group: Allow by LDAP Username: Allow by LDAP Username DN: Naximum Certificates: Default Permissions: New Sponsor Email Subject: New Sponsor Email Subject: New Sponsor Email Template:	
Allow by LDAP Group: Allow by LDAP Username: Allow by LDAP Username DN: Maximum Cartificates: Default Permissions: New Sponsor Email Subject: New Sponsor Email Subject New Sponsor Email Template:	
Allow by LDAP Group: Allow by LDAP Username: Allow by LDAP Username DN: Naximum Certificates: Default Permissions: New Sponsor Email Subject: New Sponsor Email Subject: New Sponsor Email Template:	
Allow by LDAP Group: Allow by LDAP Username: Allow by LDAP Username DH: Allow by LDAP Username DH: Allow by LDAP Username DH: New Sponsor Email Subject: New Sponsor Email Subject: New Sponsor Email Subject: New Sponsor Email Subject: Reader Displayed To Sponsor Reader Displayed To Sponsor Campany Field: Campany Field: State Fie	
Allow by LDAP Group: Allow by LDAP Username: Allow by LDAP Username: Allow by LDAP Username: Data Stream Certificates Default Permissione New Sponsor Email Subject New Sponsor Email Subject New Sponsor Email Subject Allow Displayed To Sponsor Rates Fields Email Fi	
Allow by LOAP Group: Allow by LOAP Username: Allow by LOAP Username: Allow by LOAP Username: Default Permissione New Sponsor Email Subject: New Sponsor Email Subject: New Sponsor Email Subject: New Sponsor Email Subject: Company Field: Company F	
Allow by LDAP Group: Allow by LDAP Username: Allow by LDAP Username: Allow by LDAP Username: Allow by LDAP Username: New Sponsor Email Subject: New Sponsor Email Subject: New Sponsor Email Subject: New Sponsor Email Subject: Campany Field: Campa	
Allow by LOAP Group: Allow by LOAP Username: Allow by LOAP Username: Allow by LOAP Username: Default Permissione New Sponsor Email Subject: New Sponsor Email Subject: New Sponsor Email Subject: New Sponsor Email Subject: Company Field: Company F	
Allow by LDAP Group: Allow by LDAP Username: Allow by LDAP Username: Allow by LDAP Username: Allow by LDAP Username: New Sponsor Email Subject: New Sponsor Email Subject: New Sponsor Email Subject: New Sponsor Email Subject: Campany Field: Campa	
Allow by LDAP Group: Allow by LDAP Username: Allow by LDAP Username: Allow by LDAP Username: District Sense: New Sponsor Email Subject: New Sponsor Email Subject: New Sponsor Email Subject: New Sponsor Email Subject: Company Field: Company Field: Soft Field: Days of Access Field: Entital Youcher #1: Contal Youcher #2:	

- 4. The **Sponsorship** section applies only if you are allowing external sponsors. Enter the appropriate information in the following fields:
 - Format In addition to defining the voucher format, determine if you want to enable Require Username Match.

NOTE

Require Username Match means that the user must authenticate with a username that matches the name specified in the voucher provided by the sponsor. This allows the voucher to be locked to a particular user.

- LDAP Group Regex Defines with groups within LDAP are allowed to be sponsors. For example, if you enter Wireless Sponsors, this means that anyone in the Wireless Sponsors AD group can sponsor a guest user. LDAP Username defines which usernames within LDAP are allowed to be sponsors; LDAP Username DN defines with username DNs are allowed to be sponsors.
- Maximum Certificates Maximum number of vouchers that a sponsor is allowed to create and allocate for a particular voucher list.
- Default Permissions The permissions to be used for sponsors authenticated using the Sponsorship AD Group Regex.
 - Add/Edit/Delete Sponsors In Group If checked, the sponsor can add, edit, and delete other sponsors within the group.
 - Manage Devices Enrolled By Sponsor If checked, the sponsor can review and revoke devices enrolled via vouchers issued by that sponsor.
 - Manage Devices Enrolled By All If checked, the sponsor can review and revoke devices enrolled via vouchers issued by any sponsor (within the Voucher List).
- New Sponsor Email Subject When a new sponsor is added, an email is sent to the sponsor with this subject.
- New Sponsor Email Template When a new sponsor is added, an email is sent to the sponsor with this message.
- 5. In the Fields Displayed to Sponsor section, select Do not show, Show, or Show and require entry to specify the information to be shown when a sponsor creates a voucher list for guest access.

NOTE

If a field is listed as **Do Not Show**, that field does not appear in the voucher list.

6. If needed, create one or more **Initial vouchers**.

7. Enter additional configuration, including creating a webpage that prompts the user to enter their voucher, and click **Save**. The voucher prompt is saved in the workflow.

FIGURE 4 Cloudpath Workflow

	is the sequence a user must go through to register and connect to the network. This includes user, the acceptance of use policies, and authentication of the user and/or device.	the display of
Each item below	represent a step within the process. To add additional steps, click the insert arrow on the left	side of row.
Step 1:	Require the user to accept the AUP Welcome Message and AUP	JXQ
Step 2:	Split users by: X y visitors Employees Partners	. ℓ ≡ × 9,
Step 3:	Authenticate the user via LinkedIn, Facebook, or Gmail	J × Q
Step 4:	Prompt the user for a voucher from Sponsored Guest Access	J X Q
Result:	End of process. No network or certificate assigned.	

NOTE

Sponsored access can be combined with additional options, such as authentication via Facebook, LinkedIn, or Google. When combined, the social media provides the authentication while the voucher provides the authorization. This method provides additional identity information and reduces the risk of the voucher being intercepted or misused.

Adding Sponsors to a Voucher List

Administrators can add sponsors to a voucher list. Sponsors can create vouchers and invite guest users to join the secure network.

Cloudpath supports Onboard and External sponsors. Onboard sponsors are created locally on the ES Admin UI. External sponsors can log into the Sponsorship Portal if they match a username or group name specified in the Authentication server.

Providing Sponsorship URL to Sponsors:

As Cloudpath administrator, be sure to provide the URL of the sponsorship portal to the sponsors. The the portal can be found in the Cloudpath UI by going to Managed Access > Sponsored Access > Portal Look & Feel tab.

FIGURE 5 Sponsorship Look and Feel Page - Sponsorship URL

Spo	nsorship > Look & Fee		Edit
UR	L		
1	Sponsorship URL:	https://jeff243.cloudpath.net/portal/sponsor/JackTest/	
Dis	play Labels		
(i)	Title:	Cloudpath ES	
1	Subtitle:	Sponsorship Portal	
()	Login Title:	Network Sponsorship Login	
Col	or Scheme		
i	Leftbar Color:	333A4A	
i	Topbar Color:	666666	
(i)	Lowerbar Color:	C0C0C0	
(i)	Login Color:	C0C0C0	

How to Add Onboard Sponsors

An onboard sponsor is created locally on the Cloudpath voucher list.

- 1. From the Cloudpath Admin UI, go to Managed Access > Sponsored Access >, then click the wrench icon for the list you want.
- 2. Click the **Sponsors** tab.

3. Click Add Sponsor to invoke the Sponsor Email screen.

FIGURE 6 Sponsor Email

Sponsor Email	×
Enter the email address of the sponsor below. This will be used as their username.	
Email	_
1	
Cancel Continue	

4. Enter the email address of the sponsor for this voucher list and click Continue. The email address becomes their Name.

FIGURE 7 Create Sponsor

Sponsorship > Vouch	ers > Modify Sponsor	Cancel Save
Sponsor Information		
Display Name: Description:	Test User	
Enabled: API ID: Login Information	Sponsor-5A0F17FF-276B-4BDD-8050-D4BBC2046E52	
Email: Password: Permissions	sponsor@company.net	
 Permissions 	 Add/Edit/Delete Sponsors In Group Manage Devices Enrolled By Sponsor Manage Devices Enrolled By All Allow Creation by File Upload Allow Bulk Creation 	

- 5. On the Create Sponsor screen, enter the sponsor Name, Description, and Enable the sponsor.
- 6. In the Login Information section, enter the sponsor's Email address and Password.

NOTE

The sponsor is prompted to change their password during the first login.

- 7. In the **Permissions** section, check the box for the appropriate sponsor permissions.
 - Add/Edit/Delete Sponsors In Group If checked, the sponsor can add, edit, and delete other sponsors within the group.
 - Manage Devices Enrolled By Sponsor If checked, the sponsor can review and revoke devices enrolled via vouchers issued by that sponsor.
 - Manage Devices Enrolled By All If checked, the sponsor can review and revoke devices enrolled via vouchers issued by any sponsor (within the Voucher List).
 - Allow Creation by File Upload If checked, the sponsor can create multiple vouchers at the same time through a file upload.
 - Allow Bulk Creation If checked, the sponsor can create vouchers in bulk by importing a spreadsheet of vouchers. A default template is provided.

8. Save the sponsor information.

NOTE

The sponsor will receive a notification, such as the following email, when they have been designated as a sponsor.

You have been setup as a sponsor. To login as a sponsor, use the information below.

```
URL: https://jeff245.cloudpath.net/portal/sponsor/JackTest/
Username: jeff@commscope.com
Password: test
On your first login, you will be prompted to change your password.
```

External Sponsors

An external sponsor uses AD or LDAP credentials to log into the Sponsorship Portal. An external sponsor can create voucher, invite users to join the secure network, and if the voucher list permissions allow, they can manage other sponsors and enrolled devices. To set up sponsor permissions for a voucher list, see Adding Sponsors to a Voucher List on page 13.

If you want to allow sponsors to log in to the Sponsorship Portal using AD or LDAP credentials, the authentication server must be configured with the specified username or group name filter. To configure group filters for an authentication server, see "Authentication Server Configuration for Sponsorship on page 7.

Enrollment Experience for Sponsor and Guest User

This topic describes a typical sequence for how the sponsored-guest access process is intened to work.

- 1. When a visitor arrives, the employee sponsor checks the visitor in.
- 2. The sponsor now enters the sponsorship URL (provided by the Cloudpath system administrator) in their browser. Alternatively, the sponsor can perform the steps that are described here before the guest arrives.
- 3. After going to the sponsorship URL, the sponsor is presented with the login screen:

FIGURE 8 Sponsorship Portal Login Page

Network Sponsorship Login	
Username: Password:	
Login	

4. After sponsor credentials are checked and validated, the sponsorship portal Welcome page appears.

FIGURE 9 Sponsorship Portal Welcome Page

	Cloudpath Enrollment System
Sponsorship 🗸	
Invite User(s)	Welcome
Review Invitations	Welcome to the Cloudpath ES. To invite users to join the wireless network, click Create Voucher below.
Administration	Create Voucher

- 5. Click Create Voucher.
- 6. Follow the prompts until you ger to the screen where you have different options, depending on the permissions given to you by the Cloudpath administrator, to create vouchers.

FIGURE 10 Create Voucher Options in Sponsorship Portal

Sponsorship	Sponsorship > Invite User(s)
Review Invitations	Create Voucher
Administration	Create one voucher. Select this option to create a single voucher.
	 Generate multiple vouchers. Select this option to automatically generate multiple vouchers. This option does not allow user information to be specified.
	 Upload a .CSV or .XLSX file containing a list of vouchers. If voucher is left blank, a voucher will be generated and emailed or SMSed to the user. A template file with the required format is available for download: CSV or XLSX.

- 7. With the Create one voucher button selected (for this example), click Next.
- 8. Configure the information in this screen, as shown in the example below, then click Save.

FIGURE 11 Create Voucher Screen in Sponsorship Portal

Sponsorship > Invite User	(s)	Cancel Save
Create Voucher		
(i) Name:	JeffK	•
(i) Company:	Commscope	
(i) Email:	jeffk@commscope.com	
(i) Email Voucher To User?	 Image: A start of the start of	
(i) Phone Number:	United S	
(i) SMS Voucher To User?	 Image: A start of the start of	
(i) Redeem Voucher By:	20220415	
i Reason:		
		4

9. A voucher is generated, and appears in the ensuing voucher confirmation screen (shown below).

FIGURE 12 Voucher Confirmation Screen

Spor	nsorship > Invite User(s)	Create Another
Max	uch an Ocarfinna ati an		
	ucher Confirmation		
	The sponsored user will need to provid	de the voucher below to access the network. The voucher below has been emailed to the user at jeffk@comms	scope.com.
i	Voucher:	spdx	
i	Email:	jeffk@commscope.com	
i	Country:	United States	
i	Phone Number:		
i	Name:	JeffK	
i	Company:	Commscope	
i	Description:		
i	Redeem Voucher By:	20220418	
i	Maximum Redemption Count:	1	
i	Voucher List:	Sponsored Guest Access	

- 10. This same voucher code is sent to the guest user, which they will receive either by email, text, or both, depending on how the delivery method has been configured. Another option is that the sponsor can manually provide the voucher to the guest.
- 11. The sponsor then directs the user to access the onboarding wireless network, at which time the user gets redirected to the Cloudpath system, and then follows the enrollment prompts to obtain network access.
- 12. When prompted to enter the voucher (see screen below), the guest enters the provided voucher, then continues the enrollment process. When enrollment completes, the guest will be onboarded to the secure Cloudpath network.

FIGURE 13 Voucher Screen for Enrolling Guest User

Enter the voucher that you received.
< Back Continue >

Using the Sponsorship Portal

•	How to Customize the Sponsorship Portal	. 21
•	Tasks That Sponsors Can Perform On Sponsorship Portal	. 22
•	Managing Vouchers from the Sponsorship Portal	. 23
•	Managing Guest User Devices	. 27
•	Managing Sponsors	. 28

From the sponsorship portal, a sponsor can invite guest users to join the network by creating one or multiple vouchers, view outstanding, consumed, expired, and revoked vouchers, and manage devices, and sponsor accounts in your AD or LDAP group.

Use the Sponsorship Portal if guests access is managed using voucher lists.

NOTE

Only sponsors with manage permissions can manage sponsor accounts in the AD or LDAP group. Sponsor permissions are set per voucher list. See "Adding Sponsors to a Voucher List on page 13.

How to Customize the Sponsorship Portal

You can customize the labeling, images, and colors for the sponsorship portal.

1. From the ES Admin UI, go to Managed Access > Sponsored Access > Look & Feel tab. The sponsorship portal System Setup page displays the titles and colors for the sponsorship portal.

Tasks That Sponsors Can Perform On Sponsorship Portal

2. Click Edit to customize the sponsorship portal.

FIGURE 14 Customize Sponsorship Portal

Sponsorship Portal		Cancel Save		
Page Source:	Standard Template 💌			
+ Title:	XpressConnect Enrollment System	l .		
🖲 Subtitle:	Subtitle: Sponsorship Portal			
🖲 Welcome Message:	Welcome to the XpressConnect Enrollment System. To invite users to join the wireless network, click Create Voucher above.			
Look & Feel				
🕀 Login Title:	Network Sponsorship Login	1		
🕒 Leftbar Color:	333A4A Reset Default			
• Topbar Color:	666666 Reset Default			
• Lowerbar Color:	COCOCO Reset Default			
🖲 Login Color:	COCOCO Reset Default			
Logo File				
The logo file to use in the upper-le	ft corner. The image size should be 180 x 84 pixels. Choose File No file chosen			

- 3. Modify titles and colors as needed.
- 4. To import a customized logo file to display in the upper-left corner of the sponsorship portal, the image size should be 180 x 84 pixels.
- 5. Save the customizations.

Tasks That Sponsors Can Perform On Sponsorship Portal

The Sponsorship Portal UI menu is shown below:

FIGURE 15 Sponsorship Portal Left Menu

Sponsorship	•	
Invite User(s)		Welcome
Review Invitations	۲	Welcome to the Cloudpath ES. To invite users to join the wireless network, click Create Voucher below.
Administration	•	Create Voucher

- Sponsorship tab
 - Invite User Allows sponsors to create a new voucher that will enable a guest user to enroll a device.
 - Review Invitations Allows sponsors to view outstanding, consumed, expired, and revoked invitations.
- Administration tab
 - Sponsors If permissions allow, sponsors can add, change, or remove other sponsors.

Managing Vouchers from the Sponsorship Portal

Sponsors can manage voucher lists and sponsored guest access invitations from the sponsorship portal.

From the Sponsorship UI, select Invite Users. The Create Voucher page opens.

FIGURE 16 Create Voucher Selection Page

reate	e Voucher Next >
0	Create one voucher.
	Select this option to create a single voucher.
0	Generate multiple vouchers.
	Select this option to automatically generate multiple vouchers. This option does not allow user information to be specified
0	Upload a CSV file containing a list of vouchers.
	The file must be formatted in the following sequence: vouchers, name, description, company, email, expiration date, sponsor, SMS phone number, SMS country code. If voucher is left blank, a voucher will be generated and emailed or SMSed to the user. A template file is available for <u>download</u> .
	Served to the date. A template me is available for <u>aveningau</u> .

You can create a single voucher, allow ES to generate multiple vouchers, or upload a list of vouchers from a CSV file.

How to Create a Single Voucher

1. On the Create Vouchers page, select Create one voucher.

FIGURE 17 Sponsorship Portal - Create Voucher

onsorship Portal		
Create Voucher		Save
 Name: Company: Email: Email Voucher To User? Phone Number: SMS Voucher To User? Redeem Voucher By: Reason: 	United State 20130730	

- 2. Enter the guest user information and **Save**.
 - Name Guest user name.

NOTE

If **Require Username Match** has been specified in the voucher list, the guest must authenticate with a username that matches the name specified in the voucher provided by the sponsor. This allows the voucher to be locked to a particular user.

- **Company** Guest user company.
- Email Guest user email address.
- Email Voucher to User? Checked by default. If checked and Email is entered, a voucher is sent to guest user by email.
- Phone Number Select country and enter guest user phone number.
- SMS Voucher to User? Checked by default. If checked and Phone Number is entered, a voucher is sent to guest user by SMS.

NOTE

Voucher notifications sent by Email or SMS are stored on the Notifications tab on the ES Admin UI Dashboard.

- **Redeem Voucher By** The date after which the voucher may no longer be redeemed.
- **Reason** The reason the guest user is provided access.

NOTE

When you create a single voucher, a voucher is automatically generated according to the format specified when you created the voucher list. See Creating a Workflow to Prompt User for Voucher on page 9.

Details are displayed on the Voucher Confirmation page.

FIGURE 18 Voucher Confirmation

Voucher Confirmation		Create Another
The sponsored user will need to been emailed to the user at test	provide the voucher below to access th user@testcompany.net.	e network. The voucher below has
• Voucher:	apbg	
🖲 Email:	testuser@testcompany.net	
· Country:	United States	
Phone Number:	3035551212	
+ Name:	Test User	
· Company:	Test Company	
Description:		
Redeem Voucher By:	20130731	
	Guest User Vouchers	

How to Generate Multiple Vouchers

You can have ES generate voucher for you. The automatically generated vouchers contain only the one-time password and expiration date, and are in the format specified in the voucher list. The generated vouchers can be downloaded as a CSV or TXT file.

- 1. On the Create Vouchers page, select Generate multiple vouchers.
- 2. Enter the number of vouchers to create.

FIGURE 19 ES-Generated Vouchers

uto-Generated Vouchers			Done
Download:	10 vouchers have been at Spreadsheet Text Fi		
Vouchers:	Voucher	Expiration Date	
	×cqn	20131230	
	pojy	20131230	
	cviz	20131230	
	cirz	20131230	
	lepu	20131230	
	rics	20131230	
	hqlo	20131230	
	dyid	20131230	
	njrs	20131230	
	hjsa	20131230	

3. Click Done.

The auto-generated vouchers are added to the voucher list.

How to Upload a List of Vouchers from a CSV file

Uploading a CSV file on the Sponsorship Portal is the same process as uploading a CSV file from the ES Admin UI.

If you are using a comma-separated value (CSV) file to upload multiple vouchers, the information must be formatted according to the instructions on the **Create Vouchers** page. A template file is available for download.

1. On the Create Vouchers page, select Upload a CSV file containing a list of vouchers.

2. Click Choose File to navigate to the CSV file to upload, and click Next.

FIGURE 20 Review Vouchers to Import

	ners By TXT M d Vouchers B				
Voucher	Status	End-User Name	Company	Sponsor	Expires
401	Available			anna@cloudpath.net	20131230
402	Available			anna@cloudpath.net	20131230
403	Available			anna@cloudpath.net	20131230
404	Available			anna@cloudpath.net	20131230
405	Available			anna@cloudpath.net	20131230

- 3. Verify the vouchers to import and specify if voucher should be sent to user by email or SMS, and Save.
 - Send vouchers by TXT messages If checked, the voucher is sent to the user by TXT, if a phone number is specified in the CSV file.
 - Send vouchers by Email If checked, the voucher is sent to the user by email, if an email address is specified in the CSV file.
- 4. The **Voucher Lists** page shows which vouchers have been used, the expiration dates, and any guest user details that were entered when the sponsor created the voucher, or contained in the CSV file.

NOTE

The voucher field must be listed as **Show** in the voucher list to see it on the voucher table. For example, if **Days of Access** is set to **Do Not Show** on the voucher list, and your spreadsheet includes **Days of Access**, they do not appear in the voucher table. You must change the setting to **Show** in the voucher list. See Creating a Workflow to Prompt User for Voucher on page 9 for more information.

Managing Guest User Devices

With the correct permissions, sponsors can manage devices that have enrolled under their own sponsorship, or enrolled under any other sponsor. See Adding Sponsors to a Voucher List on page 13 for more information about setting Sponsor permissions.

- 1. From the Sponsorship UI, select **Sponsorship > Review Invitations**.
- 2. Select the appropriate link to view outstanding, consumed, expired, and revoked voucher invitations.
- 3. To revoke a voucher, use the **delete** icon.

4. On the Revoke Certificate pop-up, list the reason for revocation and click Revoke. The voucher is not longer usable.

FIGURE 21 Revoke Certificate

Revoke	Certificate	×
A The c revoc	ertificate will be revoked. Please spec ation.	cify a reason for the
Reaso	Guest access no longer needed	
	Ca	ncel Revoke

Managing Sponsors

With the correct permissions, you can manage sponsors in your Active Directory or LDAP Group. Permissions are set when sponsors are added to the voucher list using the Cloudpath Administrator user interface. See Adding Sponsors to a Voucher List on page 13.

1. From the Sponsorship UI, select Administration > Sponsors.

The tables show which sponsors are able to log onto the sponsorship portal and sponsor guest users using each voucher list.

FIGURE 22 Sponsors per Voucher List

		sponsors a	reade to roy into th	e sponsorship portal and sponsor users.	
List 1:	Guest User	Vouchers			
Individu	al Sponsors:			34	
Add Sponsor		+	Name	Email	Туре
		JX	Test User 1	testuser@company.net	ONBOARD
		JX	Test User 2	testuser2@company.net	ONBOARD
		JX	Sample User	sampleuser@samplecompany.net	ONBOARD
		JX	Test User 2	testuser2@company.net	01604R

2. From this page, eligible sponsors can add or delete other sponsors, edit sponsor login information, or modify sponsor permissions within their AD or LDAP group.

For details on configuring an authentication server for sponsors, see Authentication Server Configuration for Sponsorship on page 7.

Creating Voucher Lists and Vouchers in the Cloudpath UI

•	Creating Voucher Lists	. 29
•	Adding Vouchers to a Voucher List	30

This section describes how to use the Cloudpath administrator can use the Cloudpath UI to create voucher lists and populate a voucher list. You can add a single voucher or upload multiple vouchers from a CSV file.

Creating Voucher Lists

You can create voucher lists in the Cloudpath UI to use in workflows.

Follow these steps to create a voucher list.

- 1. From the Cloudpath UI, go to Managed Access > Sponsored Access > Voucher Lists tab.
- 2. Click Add Voucher List.
- 3. In the ensuing Create Voucher List screen, configure the list. For instructions, refer to Figure 3 on page 10 and the descriptions provided with that screen.
- 4. You can return to the view of all configured voucher lists to make sure that your list appears. The following screen shows an example of two lists having been configured.

FIGURE 23 Configured Voucher Lists

	1.1.4.						Add Voucher List
Voucher	LISTS						
+	Name	Description	Creation Date	Total Vouchers	Consumed Vouchers	Expired Vouchers	Unused Vouchers
						0	0
4 ×	Sponsored Guest Access		20220410 1859 MDT	0	0	0	0

Adding Vouchers to a Voucher List

1. From the Cloudpath UI, go to Managed Access > Sponsored Access > Voucher Lists tab to view the voucher lists.

FIGURE 24 Configured Voucher Lists

Voucher	Voucher Lists								
vouchei	LISIS								
+	Name	Description	Creation Date	Total Vouchers	Consumed Vouchers	Expired Vouchers	Unused Vouchers		
	Sponsored		20220410 1859 MDT	0	0	0	0		
∢ ×	Guest Access								

2. Click the wrench icon of the voucher list where you want to add vouchers.

FIGURE 25 Voucher List - Three-tab View

Ma	naged Access > Spon	sored Access	View All Voucher Lists
D	tails Vouchers Spon	sors	
	Voucher List		Edit
	GUID:	Sponsored Guest Access 💉 OtpList-e0a9bc62-70d9-4f09-9276-e24250bf78b8	
	Voucher Format		
	Length:		
	Characters: Default Validity Length (days):	ALPHABETIC (Lowercase) 7	
	Default Reuse Count:		
	Default Days of Access:	0	
	Maximum Days of Access:	7	
	Actions:	✓ Edit	

3. Click the **Vouchers** tab.

FIGURE 26 Vouchers Tab of Selected Vouchers List

Details Vouchers Sponsors							
Voucher List							
Name: Sponsored	Guest Access						
Vouchers							
Actions:	Voucher/Import Vouchers						
Filters: 🗹 Show unused vouchers. 🗆 s	low expired vouchers.	consumed vouchers.	Show all consumed vouch	ers.			
+ Voucher Status	End-User Name	Company	Sponsor	Uses	Days of Access	SMS Phone	Email
	hi 🏟 🕸 There w	ere no results found.	IS ∨		\forall \approx		

4. Click the **Create Voucher/Import Vouchers** button to create a single voucher or upload a list of vouchers. The **Create Vouchers** page opens.

FIGURE 27 Create Vouchers

reate	e Vouchers		Cancel Next >
0	Create a single voucher.		
0		a list of vouchers. ollowing sequence: vouchers, name, description, compa country code. If voucher is left blank, a voucher will be	
	sponsor, SMS phone number, SMS SMSed to the user. A template file		generates and emailes of

Adding a Single Voucher to a Voucher List

1. On the Create Vouchers page, select Create a single voucher, then click Next.

FIGURE 28 Create Single Voucher

Manage	ed Access > Sponsore	ed Access > Create		Cancel	Back	Save
Vouche	er Information					
i Vou	Jcher:	bwzh				
i Nam	ne:	JeffK				
(i) Com	mpany:	Commscope				
i Ema	ail:	jeffk@commscope.com				
Ema	ail Voucher To User?	V				
i Pho	one Number:	United S 🗸				
SMS	S Voucher To User?	V				
i Reas	ason:					
			:			
i Red	deem Voucher By:	20220418				

2. On the Create Voucher screen, enter the guest user information in the fields, as described below, and Save.

Only the Voucher field is required.

- Voucher This field is pre-populated, but can be changed.
- Name Guest user name.

NOTE

If **Require Username Match** has been specified in the voucher list, the guest must authenticate with a username that matches the name specified in the voucher provided by the sponsor. This allows the voucher to be locked to a particular user.

- Company Guest user company.
- Email Guest user email address.
- Email Voucher to User? Checked by default. If checked and email is entered, voucher is sent to guest user by email.
- Phone Number Select country and enter guest user phone number.
- SMS Voucher to User? Checked by default. If this is checked and Phone Number is entered, voucher is sent to guest user by SMS.
- **Reason** The reason the guest user is provided access.
- Redeem Voucher By The date after which the voucher may longer be redeemed.

NOTE

Email and SMS notifications are stored on the Notifications tab on the Cloudpath Admin UI Dashboard.

3. Be sure that the vouchers you add are shown in the list of vouchers for the applicable voucher list. The following example screen shows that two vouchers have been added to the list called "Sponsored Guest Access."

FIGURE 29 Voucher List View After Two Vouchers Have Been Added

Details	Vouchers	Spons	sors						
Voucher	List								
		Name: Spo	onsored Guest Acces	35					
Vouchers	S								
	,	Actions:	Create Voucher/Im	port Vouchers					
Filt	ers: 🗹 Sho	w unused vouchers	5. Show expired your	thers. D Show recen	Ily consumed vouchers. Show all consume	I vouchers.			
+	Voucher	Status	End-User Name	Company	Sponsor	Uses	Days of Access	SMS Phone	Email
/ ×	pvnw	Available	AnnaE	Commscope	jeff.rhodie@commscope.com	0 of 1 (Expires 20220417 0000 MDT)	-		annae@commscope.com
/ ×	rwli	Available	JeffK	Commscope	jeff.rhodie@commscope.com	0 of 1 (Expires 20220417 0000 MDT)	-		jeffk@commscope.com
				🏟 🏟 Re	sults 1 - 2 of 2. 🏟 📦 15 🗸		\$		

Adding Multiple Vouchers to a Voucher List

If you are using a comma-separated value (CSV) file to upload multiple vouchers, the information must be formatted according to the instructions on the **Create Vouchers** page. A template file is available for download.

1. On the Create Vouchers page, select Upload a CSV file containing a list of vouchers.

2. Click **Choose File** to navigate to the CSV file to upload and click **Next**.

FIGURE 30 Review Vouchers to Import

Send Vouchers By TXT Message: Send Vouchers By Email:								
Voucher	Status	End-User Name	Company	Sponsor	Expires			
401	Available			anna@cloudpath.net	20131230			
402	Available			anna@cloudpath.net	20131230			
403	Available			anna@cloudpath.net	20131230			
404	Available			anna@cloudpath.net	20131230			
	Available			anna@cloudpath.net	20131230			

- 3. Verify the vouchers to import and specify if voucher should be sent to user by email or SMS, and Save.
 - Send vouchers by TXT messages If checked, the voucher is sent to the user by TXT, if a phone number is specified in the CSV file.
 - Send vouchers by Email If checked, the voucher is sent to the user by email, if an email address is specified in the CSV file.

The **Voucher Lists** page shows which vouchers have been used, the expiration dates, and any guest user details that were entered when the sponsor created the voucher, or contained in the CSV file.

NOTE

The voucher field must be listed as **Show** in the voucher list to see it on the voucher table. For example, if **Days of Access** is set to **Do Not Show** on the voucher list, and your spreadsheet includes **Days of Access**, they do not appear in the voucher table. You must change the setting to **Show** in the voucher list. See Adding a Voucher Prompt to the Enrollment Workflow for more information.



© 2024 CommScope, Inc. All rights reserved. 350 West Java Dr., Sunnyvale, CA 94089 USA https://www.commscope.com